
CITY OF WALHALLA  
Main Street to the Mountains 

 

 

206 North Church Street · PO Box 1099 · Walhalla, SC 29691 
864.638.4343 Phone · www.cityofwalhalla.com 

Tim Hall 
Mayor 

 
Keith Pace 

Mayor Pro-Tem 
 

Grant Keehn 
Councilman 

 
Sarai Melendez 
Councilwoman 

 
Josh Thomas 
Councilman 

 
Josh Holliday 
Councilman 

 
Kenny Johns 
Councilman 

 
 

 
Michael Kozlarek 

City Attorney 
 

Celia Boyd Myers 
City Administrator 

 

AGENDA  
WALHALLA CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

March 19, 2024 
5:30 PM 

City Hall | 206 N Church St, Walhalla, SC 
 
 

I. Call to Order and Welcome                    Mayor Hall 
 

II. Moment of Silence  
 

III. Pledge of Allegiance  
 

IV. Approval of Agenda 
 

V. Approval of Minutes 
A. Regular Council Meeting, February 20, 2024 
B. Committee Meeting, March 3, 2024 

          
VI. Public Comment (Public Comment is limited to 5 minutes and must be directed to 

Council, per City Ordinance 2022-8) 
 

VII. Mayoral Proclamations:  
A. Proclamation 2024-03: A Proclamation to Declare April as Fair Housing Month  

 
VIII. First and Final Reading of Resolutions:  

A. Resolution 2024-04: A Resolution to Recognize Isaac Kanagy for Achievements in 
Oratory  

B. Resolution 2024-06:  A Resolution to Recognize Walhalla 10&U Boys Basketball for 
making it to State 
 

IX. Presentation 
A. Main Street, Jenny Boulware 
 

X. Administrator’s Report 
A. Monthly Reports 

 
XI. Second, Final Reading and Public Review of Ordinances:  

A. Ordinance 2024-02: An ordinance to amend Chapter 330, Article III, Section 1.14 
R-25 Single Family Residential District  



CITY OF WALHALLA  
Main Street to the Mountains 

 

 

206 North Church Street · PO Box 1099 · Walhalla, SC 29691 
864.638.4343 Phone · www.cityofwalhalla.com 

Tim Hall 
Mayor 

 
Keith Pace 

Mayor Pro-Tem 
 

Grant Keehn 
Councilman 

 
Sarai Melendez 
Councilwoman 

 
Josh Thomas 
Councilman 

 
Josh Holliday 
Councilman 

 
Kenny Johns 
Councilman 

 
 

 
Michael Kozlarek 

City Attorney 
 

Celia Boyd Myers 
City Administrator 

 

B. Ordinance 2024-03: An ordinance to amend Chapter 199, Section 2 Construction 
Standards for Manufactured Homes  

C. Ordinance 2024-04: An ordinance to amend Chapter 330, Article III, Section 1.10 
Downtown Development Overlay District Regarding Approval for Murals and 
Article V, Section 1.25 Sign Regulations Regarding Approval for Free-Standing 
Signs Within the Downtown Design Overlay  

D. Ordinance 2024-05: An ordinance to merge the Tree Committee and Beautification 
Committee 

E. Ordinance 2024-06: An ordinance amending the Business License Ordinance of the 
City of Walhalla to update the class schedule as required by act 176 of 2020 
 

XII. First Reading of Ordinances:  
A. Ordinance 2024-07: An ordinance to amend Chapter 310 Water and Sewers 
B. Ordinance 2024-08: An ordinance to amend Chapter 25 Economic Development 

Incentive Program  
C. Ordinance 2024-09: An ordinance to amend the FY23 Budget Appendix A related 

to Rental Fees  
 

XIII. Discussion and/or Action Items (to include Vote and/or Action on matters brought up 
for discussion, if required) 
A. Wage and Compensation Study  
B. Zoning Code Update  

 
XIV. Executive Session (to include Vote and/or Action on matters discussed, if required):  

A. Real Estate Matter: City Owned Property  
B. Contractual Matter: Water Contract  
 

XV. Mayor Comments                           Mayor Hall 
 

XVI. Adjournment 

 

   
 



City of Walhalla  
City Council 

Tuesday, February 20, 2024 • 5:30 PM 
Council Chambers • City Hall 

Walhalla, South Carolina 
Minutes 

In accordance with the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, Section 30-4-10 et seq., South Carolina Code, 1976, 
the media was duly notified of the date, time, and place of the meeting. 

Councilmembers Present: Mayor Tim Hall, Mayor Pro Tem Keith Pace, Grant Keehn, Sarai Melendez, 
Kenny Johns, and Josh Thomas  

Councilmembers Absent: Josh Holliday 

Staff Present: Celia Myers, Kaylee Osbon 

Call to Order: Mayor Hall called the meeting to order at 5:30 PM, with a quorum present to conduct the 
meeting and welcomed all present to the meeting.   

Moment of Silence: Mayor Hall called for a moment of silence. 

Pledge of Allegiance: Mayor Hall asked for a councilmember to lead the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Approval of Agenda: Mayor Hall called for a motion to approve the agenda. The agenda was 
unanimously approved.  

Approval of Minutes: Mayor Hall called for the approval of the following minutes January 16, February 1 
and February 6. The minutes were unanimously approved.  

Public Comments: Mayor Hall called for any public comments. Mrs. Caroline Harris presented a 
presentation on the Bailey Bill. Mrs. India Lancaster expressed that she was running for a county seat. 

Administrator’s Comments: Mrs. Myers presented the monthly reports as presented in the packet. 

Ordinance 2024-02: An Ordinance to Amend Chapter 330, Article III, Section 1.14 R-25 Single 
Family Residential District  

Mrs. Myers gave a brief overview of what Ordinance 2024-02 is and the changes that are requested from 
Planning Commission. She expressed that there is a need for affordable housing in the City of Walhalla. 
Mr. Johns asked Mrs. Myers if this would be the size of a tiny home. Mrs. Myers stated that is not really like 
a tiny home because if it over 501 square feet then it does not meet the codes for the city to be considered 
one. Mayor Hall called for a motion to discuss the ordinance. Mr. Johns moved to approve; Mr. Pace seconded. 
Mr. Keehn stated that he thought this was a great idea because the City is in shortage of homes. Mr. Keehn 
asked why it was not R-15? Mrs. Myers explained that Planning Commission believes that R-15 would be 
too small. Mr. Keehn stated that most people would need this would have a R-15 and they should be able 
to do what they want with their property. Mr. Thomas asked if Mr. Keehn had a suggestion for what size he 
thinks it should be at and Mr. Keehn stated a R-15 should be plenty of space. Mayor Hall stated that he 
could see the potential issue for public safety if they went with he R-15. Mr. Pace explained that they must 
also think of infrastructure as well because it can only support so much. Mr. Thomas stated that the City has 
a limit of water taps. Mr. Pace then stated that residents could ask for a variance with R-15 . Mr. Keehn 
suggested that Director Scott Parris give more information about the infrastructure. Ordinance 2024-02 
passed to a second reading unanimously.  



Ordinance 2024-03: An Ordinance to Amend Chapter 199, Section 2 Construction Standards for 
Manufactured Homes 

Mrs. Myers gave a brief overview of Ordinance 2024-03 and Planning Commission’s suggested changes. 
Mr. Pace moved to approve; Mr. Johns seconded. Mr. Keehn stated that roof pitch was not that big of a deal. 
Mr. Thomas asked if this would make it easier for manufactured homes to be placed within City limits. It 
would not. Mr. Pace made a motion to amend to add gable roof; Mr. Johns seconded. Mr. Thomas asked for 
clarification and if this would make it harder for manufactured homes and Mr. Pace stated if it is gable roof. 
Mr. Keehn stated that it should not matter what the roofs look like. Mr. Thomas expressed that they should 
take care of the property so property value does not go down. He asked if allowed now. Mrs. Myers explained 
that single section manufactured homes were not allowed in the City, but owners in General Residential (GR) zones 
can apply for a special exception for a multi-sectional manufacttured home. Mayor Hall stated that everyone was 
making good points and that they should narrow down the roof pitch and correct oversights. Mr. Johns 
stated most manufactured homes have certain standards they have to follow. Ms. Melendez asked if this 
would affect current home owners and Mrs. Myers explained it would not, only future properties. Mr. Pace 
stated that the height of the pitch needs to change. The motion to amend did not pass with a vote of 3-3. 
Ordinance 2024-03 passed and moves to second reading 5-1; Mr. Thomas opposing.  

Ordinance 2024-04: An ordinance to amend Chapter 330, Article III, Section 1.10 Downtown 
Development Overlay District Regarding Approval for Murals and Article V, Section 1.25 Sign 
Regulations Regarding Approval for Free-Standing Signs Within the Downtown Design Overlay 

Mrs. Myers gave a brief overview of Ordinance 2024-04 and Planning Commission’s suggested changes. 
Mr. Pace moved to open for discussion; Mr. Keehn seconded. Mr. Thomas asked if someone was denied a 
mural at Planning Commission if they are notified of the appeal process. Mrs. Myers explained they are 
given the process immediately. Mr. Thomas then asked if council was notified because he is not thrilled of 
not knowing what is and is not passed. He stated that he does not like the idea of passing the buck to 
someone else. Ms. Melendez said that she appreciates what Mr. Thomas was stating and agreed that a 
communication process is important. Mrs. Myers explained that they should receive emails of the 
Commission and Board agenda packets plus monthly reports from the Zoning Administrator. Ms. Melendez asked 
if there are guidelines they have to follow and Mrs. Myers stated that there are. Mayor Hall expressed that he 
believes Walhalla should be an easy place to open a business and requested that a monthly report be 
made to know what is happening. Ordinance 2024-04 passed and moves to second reading 5-1; Mr. 
Thomas opposing.  

Ordinance 2024-05: An ordinance to merge the Tree Committee and Beautification Committee 

Ms. Melendez moved to open for discussion; Mr. Pace seconded. Mrs. Myers explained that the 
Beautification Committee has similar responsibilities as the Tree Committee and recommends that they 
merge as one. Ordinance 2024-05 passed to a second reading unanimously.  

Ordinance 2024-06: An Ordinance Amending the Business License Ordinance of City of Walhalla to 
update the class schedule as required by act 176 of 2020  

Mr. Pace moved to open for discussion; Ms. Melendez seconded. Mrs. Myers explained that this is a state 
requirement and then Mr. Pace reiterated that this is a requirement from the state. Ms. Melendez asked if by 
doing this the City would be up to date with state code. Mrs. Myers said that is correct. Ordinance 2024-06 
passed to a second reading unanimously. 

Resolution 2024-02: A Resolution to Implement a Strategic Communication Plan 

Mayor Hall read Resolution 2024-02: A Resolution to Implement a Strategic Communication Plan. Mr. Johns 
made a motion to approve Resolution 2024-02; Mr. Pace seconded. The resolution unanimously passed.  

Civic and Non-profit Organizations use of the Depot 

Mrs. Myers explained that this discussion may need to go before the PRT and/or the Finance Committee. 
She explained that there are serval groups that use the Depot for free and the City would like a policy on 



what is and is not allowed for the rental. Mr. Keehn, Mr. Thomas, and Mr. Pace all agreed that everyone 
should be treated equally. Mr. Pace suggested it go before the PRT Committee.  

Capital Purchase Request: Shop Enclosure and Roll Doors 

Mrs. Myers explained that the request is for $25,000 and that there is money for it the budget. Mayor Hall 
asked if there was enough in the budget and Mrs. Myers said that there is. Mr. Pace made a motion to 
approve the purchase; Mr. Keehn seconded. The motion unanimously passed.  

Capital Purchase Request: Stumphouse Park Ranger Truck 

Mrs. Myers explained that the Ranger Truck would come from an appropriation for the Stumphouse Park 
and the City has the money in the budget and would not affect any other projects funding. She then 
explained they currently have a truck but it is not in adequate shape.  Mayor Hall asked if there was enough 
in the budget and Mrs. Myers said that there is. Mr. Keehn made a motion to go with Chief Rice’s 
recommendation for a new Park Ranger truck; Mr. Pace seconded. The motion unanimously passed. 

Executive Session 

Mr. Pace moved to enter executive session in order to discuss a real estate matter regarding a City owned 
property. Mr. Johns seconded. The motion to enter executive session was unanimous. Council entered 
executive session at 6:56 PM. 

Mayor Comments 

Mayor Hall thanked staff for all they have done and announced the Budget Workshop for February 27 at 
5:30 PM in the Council Chambers.  

Hearing no further business, the meeting adjourned at 7:32 PM, with a motion by Ms. Melendez and a 
second by Mr. Pace. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Kaylee Osbon, MBA  



City of Walhalla  
City Committee Meeting 

Tuesday, March 5, 2024 • 5:30 PM 
Council Chambers • City Hall 

Walhalla, South Carolina 
Minutes 

 

In accordance with the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, Section 30-4-10 et seq., South Carolina Code, 1976, 
the media was duly notified of the date, time, and place of the meeting. 

 
Councilmembers Present: Mayor Tim Hall, Mayor Pro Tem Keith Pace, Grant Keehn, Josh Thomas, and 
Josh Holliday  

Councilmembers Absent: Sarai Melendez and Kenny Johns  

Staff Present: Celia Myers, Kaylee Osbon, Russ Price, John Galbreath, Mark Bloomer, Breanna 
Richardson, Davy Lee, Andrew Martinez, and Scott Parris  

 

Welcome: Mayor Hall called the meeting to order at 5:30 PM and welcomed all present to the meeting.   

Moment of Silence: Mayor Hall called for a moment of silence. 

Pledge of Allegiance: Mayor Hall asked Councilmember Keehn to lead the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Approval of Agenda: Mayor Hall called for a motion to approve the agenda. Mr. Pace moved to approve 
the agenda; Mr. Holliday seconded. The agenda was unanimously approved.  

 

Finance Committee 

Mr. Johns was absent. Mr. Pace explained that there is nothing new to share. However, he is pleased with 
the feedback he has received from the video from the Budget Workshop. Mr. Holliday stated that the 
school does not lease laptops.  

Public Works Committee 

Mr. Russ stated that they do have any updates, other than his department is looking into applying for 
grants. Mr. Galbreath explained the various maintenance upkeeps that his department has completed this 
past month. Mrs. Myers explained that she would for staff to look into landscaping around the shop to 
shield some of the equipment that is all around the grounds. Mr. Pace asked about a stormwater drain off 
of Main Street. Mr. Russ stated that SCDOT is aware and has fixed it in the past. Mr. Keehn explained that 
he had the privilege of riding along one of the routes and learning more about the ins and outs of 
Sanitation. Mr. Holliday stated he appreciated that all staff was doing.  

Parks, Recreation, & Tourism  

Ms. Melendez was absent. Ms. Richardson provided an update for the Recreation Department. She stated 
they hosted the 10&U State Basketball Tournament. Mr. Thomas stated that it had a great turn out and it 
went very well. Ms. Richardson then explained they have a total of 12 sponsorships and counting.  Mrs. 
Myers then presented on the Civic and Non-Profit groups proposal. She explained there is some confusion 
on who and what to charge certain groups and staff would like a policy to follow. Mr. Holliday stated that 
we cannot offer a discount or free to one group and not another, that is needs to equal for all. Mr. Holliday 
and Mr. Thomas both stated they did not see a problem with City employees being about to use a city 
facility for free once a year. Mr. Holliday made a motion to bring the proposal to council to discuss; Mr. 
Thomas seconded. The motion passed 2-0.  



Planning and Community Development  

A quorum was not present; Ms. Melendez and Mr. Johns were not present. However, Mr. Brian Blackwell 
City’s Building Official, gave an informative presentation on HVAC codes per state code.  

Utilities  

Mr. Parris explained that there is a new development outside of city limits that is requesting a water tap. He 
explained that they could use the gravity method or would have to create a new pump station for area. Mr. 
Pace pointed out that if we go with the pump station option the City would gain nothing from this deal 
because of the cost of maintenance and crew for the new station. Mr. Parris agreed that gravity would be 
better. Mr. Thomas made a motion for Mr. Parris to give the gravity option to the developers; Mr. Pace 
seconded. The motion passed 3-0. Mr. Parris than gave an explanation as to why the 10” and 20” line 
upgrades are important because they allow for much need upgrades to increase the quality of water. Mrs. 
Myers asked for the committee to bring an ordinance to council that needs to be updated for legal 
reasons. Mr. Pace made a motion to bring the updated ordinance to council; Mr. Thomas seconded. The 
motion passed 3-0. Mr. Parris also stated that the phone upgrades have been taken place and numbers 
should be porting over by the end of the week. The committee also decided to have a Water Plant tour on 
March 22.   

Public Safety  

A quorum was not present; Ms. Melendez and Mr. Johns were not present. 

General Government  

Mrs. Myers gave a brief overview of the Economic Incentives the City offers, primarily, looking at the one 
within City Ordinance. Mayor Hall noted that he would like to see criteria created for the initiative. Mr. 
Thomas stated that he believes this helps businesses come and stay in Walhalla. Mr. Keehn disagrees and 
believes this should not be allowed. Mayor Hall made a motion to bring to full council; it was seconded. 
The motion passed 4-1, with Mr. Keehn opposing.  

Mayor Comments 

None were provided.  

Hearing no further business, the meeting adjourned at 7:34 PM, with a motion by Mr. Pace and a second 
by Mr. Holliday. 

 

Respectfully Submitted,  

Kaylee Osbon, MBA  



A PROCLAMATION  
TO RECOGNIZE APRIL AS FAIR HOUSING MONTH  

 
WHEREAS, The Fair Housing Act, enacted on April 11, 1968, enshrined into federal law the 
goal of eliminating racial segregation and ending housing discrimination in the United States; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the principles of fair housing are fundamental to ensuring that every resident of 
Walhalla has the right to choose where they live, regardless of race, color, religion, national 
origin, sex, familial status, disability, or any other characteristic protected by law; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Walhalla acknowledges the importance of fostering inclusive 
communities that promote equal opportunity for all individuals and families; and 
 
WHEREAS, The City of Walhalla reaffirms its dedication to promoting fair housing practices 
and ensuring that all residents have the opportunity to secure safe, decent, and affordable housing 
without facing discrimination; and  
 
WHEREAS, The City of Walhalla encourages residents, housing providers, real estate 
professionals, and community organizations to join in efforts to promote fair housing education, 
awareness, and outreach; and 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Mayor Tim Hall, proclaim April 2024 as Fair Housing Month and 
encourage all Walhalla residents to participate in educational events and activities aimed at 
promoting fair housing awareness and understanding.  
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and caused the official seal of the City 
of Walhalla, South Carolina to be affixed this Nineteenth Day of March, in the year of our Lord 
Two Thousand Twenty-Four.  
 

 

 

         _________________________ 

                                                                                        Mayor Tim Hall 



 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 

COUNTY OF OCONEE               ) 

CITY OF WALHALLA         ) 

 

A RESOLUTION TO RECOGNIZE ISAAC KANAGY FOR ACHIEVEMENTS IN ORATORY 

 

WHEREAS, Isaac Kanagy, a sophomore at Walhalla High School, has demonstrated exceptional talent and 
dedication in oratory; and 
 
WHEREAS, Isaac Kanagy emerged victorious in the South Carolina State American Legion Oratorical 
competition held in Columbia, triumphing over three other outstanding students from across the state; and 
 
WHEREAS, Isaac Kanagy's remarkable achievement not only reflects his personal commitment to excellence 
but also brings great pride and honor to the Walhalla American Legion, Walhalla High School, and the entire 
community of Oconee County; and 
 
WHEREAS, Isaac Kanagy's success in the South Carolina competition has earned him the opportunity to 
represent our state at the National American Legion Oratorical competition in Michigan, where he will compete 
for the prestigious national title and over $35 thousand dollars in scholarship awards; and 
 
WHEREAS, Isaac Kanagy's dedication and talent have already been recognized through the attainment of over 
$4 thousand dollars in scholarship funds; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Walhalla, extends its heartfelt 
congratulations to Isaac Kanagy for his outstanding achievement in winning the South Carolina State American 
Legion Oratorical competition and commends Isaac Kanagy for his dedication, hard work, and exemplary 
representation of the community of Walhalla High School and Oconee County. 
 
AND IT IS SO RESOLVED this 19th day of March 2024.  
 

 

 
          ________________________ 

          Mayor Tim Hall 

 
Attest: 

___________________________ 

Celia Myers. City Administrator  

RESOLUTION 2024-03 



State of South Carolina ) 

County of Oconee         ) 

City of Walhalla           ) 

A RESOLUTION HONORING THE WALHALLA 10 AND UNDER BASKETBALL TEAM AND 
THEIR COACHES FOR THEIR OUTSTANDING ACHIEVEMENT IN ADVANCING TO THE STATE 

TOURNAMENT 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Walhalla takes immense pride in recognizing and celebrating the accomplishments of 
its youth in sports; and 

WHEREAS, the Walhalla 10 and Under Basketball Team, under the guidance of their coaches Isaac 
Williamson, Caleb Williamson, and Jamie Garland, has exhibited exceptional skill, dedication, and 
sportsmanship throughout their season; and 

WHEREAS, the team consisting of Weston Alexander, Sully Garland, Silas Holliday, Asher Lusk, Avery 
McCaffrey, Colton Reid, Jax Roach, Cole Suttles, Braxton Taylor, and Jase Williamson has demonstrated 
remarkable teamwork and perseverance; and 

WHEREAS, the hard work and guidance of their coaches have played a pivotal role in the team's success, 
instilling in them the values of discipline, resilience, and unity; and 

WHEREAS, their collective efforts have resulted in their qualification for the State Basketball Tournament, 
hosted in the City of Walhalla, a testament to their talent, dedication, and commitment to excellence; and 

WHEREAS, the City of Walhalla wishes to extend its deepest appreciation and congratulations to the players, 
coaches, and supporters of the Walhalla 10 and Under Basketball Team for their outstanding achievement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF WALHALLA, that the Walhalla 
10 and Under Basketball Team and their coaches, Isaac Williamson, Caleb Williamson, and Jamie Garland, are 
hereby recognized and congratulated for their remarkable accomplishment of advancing to the State 
Tournament. 

AND IT IS SO RESOLVED this 19th day of March 2024.  

 

        ______________________________  

        Mayor Tim Hall 

Attest: 

 

______________________________  

Celia Myers, City Administrator          

 

Resolution 2024-04 



CITY OF WALHALLA  
Main Street to the Mountains 

 

 

206 North Church Street · PO Box 1099 · Walhalla, SC 29691 
864.638.4343 Phone · www.cityofwalhalla.com 

Tim Hall 
Mayor 

 
Keith Pace 

Mayor Pro Tem 
 

Josh Holliday 
Councilman 

 
Kenny Johns 
Councilman 

 
Grant Keehn 
Councilman 

 
Sarai Melendez 
Councilwoman 

 
Josh Thomas 
Councilman 

 
 
 

Michael Kozlarek 
City Attorney 

 
Celia Boyd Myers 

City Administrator 
 

TO:  Mayor Hall and City Council  

RE:   February Monthly Report 

DATE:  March 10, 2024 

 
Please find enclosed an update on the City's recent activities for the month of February 2024, along 
with departmental monthly reports.  

Administration 

HR/Personnel: Reorganization of Public Works to incorporate Streets & Facilities proving successful. 
Continuing to develop SOPs and policies where appropriate. 

Tourism: Still awaiting the delivery of the restrooms for Stumphouse Mountain Park – Ross Mountain 
entrance. The Wanderweg greenway construction is nearly completion; landscaping and wayfinding 
continues to be installed. The City of Walhalla hosted the SCAP 10 & Under State Basketball 
Tournament March 2-3. Working with Walhalla Performing Arts Center on an August 3rd event with 
an outdoor concert and Cycling Quests on an October Gravel Roll – the Holler in Walhalla. 

Economic Development: Waffle House continues construction work. Five new business walk-
throughs were held. Wicked Licks ice cream on Main Street is expected to open in mid-March. 
Researching ways to expand economic development opportunities.  

Infrastructure: RFQ for sidewalk improvements was reissued due to no submissions. SCIIP timeline 
with RIA revised – currently in the design phase, expect complete in 2026. Storm on the 28th 
resulted in a damaged concession stand at Sertoma fields (tree fell on the building); working with 
insurance on options. Working with SCDOT on storm drain, sign 

Funding Opportunities: Continue to seek and apply for grant opportunities (non-match). Applied for 
grants from MASC for public safety. Departments continue to seek additional grant opportunities.  

Finance/Budget: Held a budget workshop on February 27th where Capital Improvement and 
Maintenance requests were prioritized and to-date revenues and expenses were reviewed. Met 
with Department Heads to review upcoming requests and new budget process. Expect the FY22-23 
audit to be complete by mid-March. Receiving HTAX applications, expect six requests based on 
current communications. 

Community Engagement: Adopted Strategic Communication Plan. Continue to engage is various 
forms of communication for transparency. Updating website for better navigation and information 
distribution. Transferring to a new VOIP phone system to improve customer service. Participated in 
the Oconee Chamber of Commerce’s Community Breakfast focusing on Law Enforcement and 
Public Safety. Hosting TreesUpstate March 15th to give-away over 100 trees. 



Facilities and Streets Department  
Director: John Galbreath  

Sertoma  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Depot  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Lawnmower and Attachment  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Other Items 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



City of Walhalla Fire Department 
Home of the Mountaineer Engine Co. Est. 1871 

 

 

207 E North Broad Street, Walhalla SC 29691 
864-638-4345 Phone 
864-638-2444 Fax 

Fire Chiefs Monthly Report 
March 2024 

 

FIRE-EMS 

Incident Response-  

We responded to 89 calls for service. 33 were fire calls and 56 were medical/rescue calls.  During the month we 
were on multiple calls 26% of the time.  We provided 8 instances of mutual aid.  39 calls were inside the City and 
50 calls were either in the unincorporated area or another district.  The average on-scene time was 32 minutes.  
Both career and volunteer staff spent 134 hours on incidents.   

Incident Type # Incidents % of Total  
Fires 5 5.62% 
Overpressure rupture, explosion- no fire 1 1.12% 
Rescue & EMS 56 62.92% 
Hazardous Conditions 3 3.37% 
Service Call 13 14.61% 
 Good Intent Call  6 6.74% 
False Alarm and False Call 4 4.49% 
Severe Weather & Natural Disaster 1 1.12% 
Special Incident  0 0.00% 

Total  89 100.00% 
 

Operations/Training-  

Staff, both career and volunteer, trained for a total of 175 hours during the month.  

The department has 2 full time firefighter openings. These positions are posted on the City webpage and the 
department’s Facebook page.  

 

 

 

 



City of Walhalla Fire Department 
Home of the Mountaineer Engine Co. Est. 1871 

 

 

207 E North Broad Street, Walhalla SC 29691 
864-638-4345 Phone 
864-638-2444 Fax 

COMMUNITY RISK REDUCTION 

Fire Marshal-    

Continuing to complete pre-fire plans and business inspections. Completing re-inspections as needed.  

Fire Prevention/Life Safety-        

  

 

EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT 

Staff have responded to 2 reported structure fires this month. If you have a fire or emergency in a structure 
remember to evacuate all persons inside first, then call 911.  

GRANTS 

We have applied for 35 grants with possible funding totaling in $400,000 or more. This is as of the end of the 
month. We plan on applying for several more grants.  

 

Please contact me should you have any questions. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

/s/ Will Bates  
Will Bates, Fire Chief  

18

0

18

3
1

0
2

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18
20

Business
Inspections

Special
Event

Inspections

Pre-Plans Rental
Inspections

Car Seat
Installs

Carbon
Monoxide

Alarms

Smoke
Alarm
Installs

Risk Reduction Activity Count 



Walhalla Police Department                    

101 E. Main St. 

Walhalla, SC 29691 

Chief of Police Timothy J. Rice 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Monthly Police Report- February 2024 

 

   

February Events and Completed Training: Employees  

 

 
 

TOTAL CALLS FOR SERVICE 1415 

TRAINING HOURS  75 HOURS  

Total Arrests 40 (Adult) 1 (Juvenile) 

Extra Patrol / Business Checks 743 

 

BREAKDOWN OF OVERTIME BY TYPE: 

Shift Coverage  33 

Court 2 

Special Event Coverage  

TOTAL OVERTIME   35 HOURS (previous month –112.5 hours) 

       

Upcoming Events and Training and News: 

Sgt Heaton will be attending DUI/SFST training. 

Sgt Zach McCall will be attending Glock Armor training.  

Cpl Victor Gomez will be joining the department on March 7th.  

 

 

 

 

 



Walhalla Police Department                    

101 E. Main St. 

Walhalla, SC 29691 

Chief of Police Timothy J. Rice 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

Monthly Reference Material 

Feb 2024 – Month End Stats 

 

Total Calls for Service:    1415 

Total Traffic Stops:              308   

Total Traffic Collisions:    15 

 

Reports Filed:   

Collision Reports:     8  

Pursuit After-Action:      1     

Incident Reports:     60   

Response to Resistance:    0 

    TOTAL:   69 

 

Citations/Warnings Issued:  

Warnings:      161 

Traffic Related:     91   

Non-Traffic Related:     20 

TOTAL:                 272 

    

Arrests:     

Adults:       40 

Juvenile Referrals:     1 

TOTAL:   41 

 

Extra Patrols:    TOTAL:    743 

 



City of Walhalla 
Development Services Department 

206 N Church St. • P.O. Box 1099 • Walhalla, SC 29691 • (864)-614-2655 • Fax (864) 638-4357 • www.CityofWalhalla.com 

 
 
March 12, 2024 
 
February 2024 Monthly Report  
 

1. Worked with five (5) potential new businesses (Mountain Mocha is 
changing locations, Havoline is becoming Strickland Brothers’ 10 Minute 
Oil Change, a Thrift Store is proposed for next to Kountry Kupboard, a 
building for RV storage is proposed for the Storage Depot and the Alum 
Hotel) 

     2.  Permit administration (see totals below)  
     3.  Fielded additional calls/emails/walk-ins regarding façade and sign grants,  
          building permits, signs, new business process, special events, land use  
          allowances, food trucks, code violations, business licenses, Downtown  
          Design Guidelines and variances.  
      4. Applications/Violations Processed, February 2024 Request Monthly Totals  
            Zoning Permits  5 
            Building Permits  9 
            Violations (IPMC, Sign, Zoning, etc.)  6 
            Variances  0 
            Subdivision Permits (Preliminary/Final)  1 
            Special Exceptions  0 
            Sign Permits  1 
            Rezoning Requests  0  
            Land Disturbance Permits  0 
            Food Truck Permits  0 
            Fence Permits  0 
            Demolition Permits  0  
            Appeals   0 
 
Submitted by Planning and Zoning Administrator Mark Bloomer 



Director, Catie Fisher

March 19th, 2024

Main Street Walhalla Report

Main Street Walhalla (501c3) is an economic development tool designed to help revitalize the downtown business 

district of Walhalla SC. By implementing the Main Street Four-Point Approach, the program aims to create an 

economic and culturally vibrant downtown that both locals and visitors will enjoy. 

Our Mission

 To support and enhance the continuing economic development of downtown Walhalla while protecting 
and promoting its historic heritage. 

*Promotional Merchant Videos

-Starting October 2023, Main Street Walhalla has partnered with Keowee Creative 

Marketing on the Promotional Merchant Videos Project.

-Videos are 30 seconds long

-The business owner introduces themselves, talks about what their business has to offer 

and what people can expect when they visit.  

-Who is eligible? All small businesses in the downtown district are eligible.

*Why is Main Street Walhalla doing this project? 

To help the small businesses in the downtown district expand their online presence 
and increase their social media foot traffic
Increase their online sales (if available)
Small business storytelling
To create an organic one on one relationship with the business owner
To showcase the unique visitor experience on Main Street Walhalla
Available to view on Main Street Walhalla Social Media Platforms

Website: www.mainstreetwalhalla.com
Facebook, Instagram, TikTok and YouTube

https://www.mainstreet.org/mainstreetamerica/theapproach


While some businesses sell similar retail and food items, it is important for the consumer 

and business owners to know that each business provides a different customer 

experience.  

Merchant Video’s Available

Coming Soon

*Upcoming Projects

1.  Mountain Mocha
2.  ShugaBears Sweets & Treats
3.  La Estrella
4.  Sunni Ann Mercantile Co.
5.  Walhalla Boutique on Main
6.  McClain’s Custom Silk Floral Designs & Gifts
7.  StoryBook Photography
8.  Oconee Belle Local Market
9.  Garage Taproom
10. Trailhead Tavern
11. Glamour Hair Studio
12. Rustic Revolution
13. Walhalla Performing Arts 
14. Steph’s Steaks
15. The History of Stumphouse Tunnel
16. Middle of Main Antiques
17. Earth’s Elements 
18. Through the Looking Glass Salon & Spa
19. Museum of the Cherokee in SC

1.  Oconee County History Museum
2.  Alexander’s Work & Wander

Main Street Walhalla Adopt a Bench Project
There is a need for more public seating in the downtown district and requests to 
do another adopt a bench project. 
Rustic Revolution is building wooden benches with metal framing to place through 
out the downtown district. 
More information will be released soon.

Historic Walking Tour 
Partnering with the Oconee History Museum there will be a digital walking tour 
available 
Highlighting important landmarks in our downtown district
Digital and Paper maps will be available with more information soon



*Folksfest and The Race to Valhalla

cfisher@cityofwalhalla.com

Downtown Map
Partnering with Keowee Creative Marketing, we have created a downtown map with 
labeled landmarks and a full Merchant Directory and Walhalla events
Will be available in digital and paper form soon

May 4th 2024 
10am -5pm
The City Green (next to Arby’s)
Handcraft and Food Vendors
South East Gravel Bike Race hosts their annual “Race to Valhalla” on Main Street 
Live Music by:

Cannon & Cohen
The Warcry Band 

Dancers:
The Walhalla Bavarian Dancers & Kinder Valkyries(translated in German: Kinder means 

Children)

Fun Fact:
Volksfest(prounounced Folksfest in German) translates to The Peoples Festival.

Main Street Walhalla was awarded $2000 for Advertising from Oconee County ATAX 
Committee through the Oconee County Council. 



February 2024   ASK THE EXPERT The Journal | 21

W
ALHALLA

What is Main Street America?
Main Street America leads a national movement committed to 

strengthening communities through preservation-based economic 
development in older and historic downtowns and neighborhood 
commercial districts.

What is Main Street Walhalla?
Main Street Walhalla is a 501c3 non-profit affiliated with both the 

national Main Street America program and Main Street SC. By being 
a part of the national and state Main Street programs, we are provided 
with tools and resources that help strengthen our community through 
preservation based economic development.

What are some of Main Street Walhalla’s Goals for 2024?
• Main Street Walhalla will be focusing on securing funding for 

upgraded amenities in Kauffman Gardens (more commonly 
known as the Depot Park) and at the Walhalla Food Truck Lot.

• Partnering with the Oconee History Museum to create a plan for 
a Historic Walking Tour/Path on Main Street Walhalla.

• Incorporating more of Walhalla’s Historic Heritage into City and 
Main Street Walhalla events.

What are some of the roles of the Director  
of the Main Street Walhalla program?

• Collect Reinvestment Statistics for the Downtown District of 
Walhalla
• Submit Annual Report the Main Street SC

• Establishing Strategic Communications with Key Stakeholders 
and the Small Businesses Downtown

• Partnering and Collaborating with the City of Walhalla, Small 
Businesses and Other Local Non-Profits
• Promotional Projects
• Economic Vitality Projects
• Downtown Design Projects
• Expanding Communication and Transparency

• Assisting New and Existing Businesses with Access to Tools and 
Resources
• Small Business Guides
• Educational Opportunities
• Available Grants
• Focused Discussions (Merchants Meetings)
• City Liaison

• Promotional Project Management
• Event Coordinator

• Large and Small Festivals
• Shop, Eat, Play, Stay Local Campaigns
• Historic Heritage
• Local Outdoor Recreation

• Volunteer Organization
• Placemaker
• Grant Writer
• Continuing Education

• Attending National and State Main Street Conferences
• Leadership Training

What are some of the ways Main Street Walhalla  
supports its small businesses?

At the request of the businesses in the downtown district, Main 
Street Walhalla began hosting Merchant Meetings in November 
2023. These meetings provide opportunities for business owners to 
meet each-other, have guest speakers, share promotional events, be 
given small business materials and discuss operational and customer 
experiences.

As a small business advocate, Main Street Walhalla attends all 
new business walk-throughs and assists with grand openings in the 
downtown district.

After partnering with a local marketing management company, 
Main Street Walhalla launched a new video promotional project in 
October 2023. Open to all small businesses in the downtown district, 
these promotional videos take the viewer inside the individual 
businesses. Business owners provide a brief introduction and describe 
the customer experience. This is an excellent ice breaker and 
establishes a connection between the viewer and the business.

Meet Catie Fisher, Director, Main Street Walhalla
Main Street Walhalla is my home and my community. I grew up on 

Main Street in two historical homes that were built by my ancestors in 
the 1850’s. My family has always been involved in and supported the 
Walhalla community. When I was in early elementary school, I grew 
up watching my 
mother and my great 
aunt help restore 
what is now the 
Walhalla Performing 
Arts Center (WPAC). 
A few years later 
they both bought the 
old school building 
next to WPAC 
(soon to be Hotel 
Alum), restored it 
and turned it into 
a Conservatory for 
the Arts. These are 
just two of the many 
community projects 
my family has been a 
part of and what has 
fueled my passion 
for community 
placemaking.

I started my professional career as a classically trained singer at 
13 years old and for my last two years in high school I attended and 
graduated from the South Carolina Governor’s School for the Arts and 
Humanities in Greenville, SC. I then received a nearly full scholarship 
to Loyola University New Orleans and graduated in 2014 with a 
Bachelors in Music with a focus in opera. I married a local from New 
Orleans and we had our daughter in 2016. After working for New 
Orleans Opera Company for eight years, we moved back to Walhalla 
and had our son in 2021. Our children are the 7th generation to live in 
my ancestral homes and on Main Street Walhalla.

Main Street’s mission is to strengthen Walhalla

Catie Fisher
Director, Main Street Walhalla



WalhallaVISIT

SOUTH CAROLINA

Main Street to the Mountains

Unique Shopping 9 Museums & Performances 9 Variety of Dining 9 Outdoor Fun

                    Visit mainstreetwalhalla.com  |  
Questions? Contact us! info@mainstreetwalhalla.com

Sitting at the doorstep of the Blue Ridge Mountains, 
Historic Downtown Walhalla is a destination for 
traditional arts and entertainment. 

Home to diverse businesses flavored with authentic 
dining experiences, Walhalla serves as the hub for 
exceptional outdoor recreation.

Main Street America has been helping revitalize older 
and historic commercial districts for more than 40 years. 
Collectively, the Main Street movement is the leading 
voice for preservation-based economic development and 
community revitalization across the country.

Our Partners:

a cool place to play!
VisitOconeeSC.com

23438_MainStWalhalla_full_Ask.indd   123438_MainStWalhalla_full_Ask.indd   1 2/13/24   3:38 PM2/13/24   3:38 PM



WALHALLA PUBLIC WORKS 3-5-2024  
The Public Works Department  

February 1 thru 29, 2024 the City of Walhalla picked up:   

  234 -ton of residential garbage  

  120 -ton of commercial garbage 

    17-loads of recyclable brush 

    13 -ton C&D Waste 

      1 -ton mattresses 

 

Roll Carts for February 

Delivered 23 

Picked up 6 

Repair/Replace 5  

 

During the month of February our department continued picking up brush, leaves, 
trash, tires, and mattresses.   

 

Thanks,  

Russ Price 



 

 

 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 

 

COUNTY OF OCONEE  )  ORDINANCE 2024-02 

 

CITY OF WALHALLA  ) 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY OF WALHALLA CODE OF ORDINANCES, 

CHAPTER 330, ARTICLE III, SECTION 1.14 R-25 SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL 

DISTRICT 

 

 

Whereas, the City of Walhalla does not currently have many vacant, buildable lots; and 

 

Whereas, the City of Walhalla needs more housing; and 

 

Whereas, the City of Walhalla Planning & Community Development Department and Planning 

Commission are currently responsible for enforcing zoning regulations and reviewing permit 

applications; 

 

Now Therefore: it is ordained and enacted by the Mayor and Councilmembers of the City of 

Walhalla, in Council assembled, that Chapter 330, Article III, Section 1.14 shall be amended as 

follows: 

 

Article III  

Establishment of Zoning Districts; Rules for Interpretation of Boundaries; Application of 

District Regulations  

 

§330-1.14.  R-25 Single Family Residential District 

 

 B.    Permitted uses.  The following building and uses shall be permitted in any R-25 

         Zoning District. 

(1) Single-family dwellings, detached (other than mobile homes); 

(2) Cultivation of land general gardening, horticulture or growing agricultural 

crops, and plant nursery and sales; 

(3) Accessory building and structures in conjunction with permitted uses as  

prescribed in §330-1.46.  

       (4)      An accessory dwelling unit subject to the following conditions:  

                  (a)    Only one accessory dwelling unit is permitted per lot.  The accessory  

                           dwelling unit must be site built. 

                   (b)    Separate detached garages and separate accessory dwelling units are  

                            not permitted on the same lot. Accessory dwelling units may be created  

                            as a second story within detached garages if the height of the accessory  

                            dwelling unit on top of the garage does not exceed 28 feet.  

       (c)    The gross floor area of an accessory dwelling unit must not exceed 50  



    percent of the principal building’s floor area. The building footprint of  

    the accessory dwelling unit shall not exceed 40 percent of the living  

    area of the principal residence. The “building footprint” includes patios  

    and porches.  

(f) One off-street parking space must be provided for each bedroom

within an accessory dwelling unit.

(g) The maximum permitted height for an accessory dwelling unit is one

story.

(h) All required permits must be obtained prior to construction of the

accessory dwelling unit.  The accessory dwelling unit must

comply with applicable requirements of the International Building

Code and other applicable federal, state, or local codes.

(i) The accessory dwelling unit must be completely detached from the

principal structure.

(j) The accessory dwelling unit must be placed on the rear of the

property.  It must be located at least 10 feet from the rear property

line and at least  10 feet from side property line.

Duly assembled this ______Day of ________ 2024. 

____________________________ 

Tim Hall, Mayor 

(seal) 

ATTEST: 

______________________________ 

Celia Boyd Myers, City Administrator 

Introduced By: ______________________________ 

First Reading:  February 20, 2024

Public Hearing, 

Second Reading 

And Adoption:  ______________________________ 



From: Kaylee Osbon
To: Celia Myers, Walhalla SC
Subject: Fw: Adding a home to a lot
Date: Friday, March 15, 2024 3:58:25 PM
Attachments: Outlook-iVBORw0KGg.png

Outlook-JLuoJhAAAA.png

Kaylee Osbon, MBA
Assistant to the City Administrator

206 N. Church St.
PO Box 1099
Walhalla, SC 29691
864-638-4343
864-973-9153 (Office) 
http://www.cityofwalhalla.com

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE:  All e-mail correspondence to and from this address may
be subject to public disclosure under the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act (FOIA). 
This e-mail message, including any attachments, is for the sole use of the intended recipient(s)
and may contain confidential, proprietary, and/or privileged information protected by law. If
you are not the intended recipient, you may not read, use, copy, or distribute this e-mail
message or its attachments. If you believe you have received this e-mail message in error,
please contact the sender by reply e-mail or telephone immediately and destroy all copies of
the original message.

From: Scott Parris, Walhalla SC <sparris@cityofwalhalla.com>
Sent: Friday, March 8, 2024 3:15 PM
To: Kaylee Osbon <kosbon@cityofwalhalla.com>
Subject: Adding a home to a lot
 
To add a second residence to a property will require an additional water tap, additional sewer tap,
and an additional impact fee payment to the OJRSA. The customer would need to apply for service,
the same as with any new construction project. The City will coordinate the work with the customer
to determine the best location for the taps. The costs for each are:
 
Water Tap: $1900
Sewer Tap: $1200
OJRSA Impact Fee: $2300
 
Total: $5400

mailto:kosbon@cityofwalhalla.com
mailto:cmyers@cityofwalhalla.com
http://www.cityofwalhalla.com/




STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 

COUNTY OF OCONEE )   ORDINANCE 2024-03 

CITY OF WALHALLA ) 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY OF WALHALLA CODE OF ORDINANCES, 

CHAPTER 199, SECTION (2) CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS FOR  

MANUFACTURED HOMES 

Whereas, the Walhalla City Council adopted Chapter 199 to set standards for mobile homes 

that are brought into the city limits for the purpose of bringing in mobile homes that are con-

sistent with other homes in the vicinity; and  

Whereas, the Board of Zoning Appeals must approve via Special Exception the placement of a 

mobile home on a lot that is zoned General Residential; and  

Whereas, the City of Walhalla needs more housing; and 

Whereas, removing the roof slope requirement from Chapter 199, Article 2, Section (C)(1) will 

potentially allow more affordable mobile homes to be brought in to the City of Walhalla; and 

Whereas, the City of Walhalla Planning & Community Development Department and Planning 

Commission are currently responsible for enforcing zoning regulations and reviewing permit 

applications; 

Now Therefore: it is ordained and enacted by the Mayor and Councilmembers of the City of 

Walhalla, in Council assembled, that Chapter 199, Section 2, shall be amended as follows: 

§ 199 Manufactured Homes

§ 199-2 Construction standards.

A. No building permit shall be issued for any manufactured home originally brought into the

City of Walhalla or relocated within the City subsequent to the adoption of this chapter

unless a certificate of zoning compliance shall have been issued by the Zoning

Administrator, to certify that the manufactured home is in full compliance with this

chapter.

B. All manufactured homes brought into the City of Walhalla, or relocated within the City of

Walhalla after the adoption of this chapter, shall be required to be in compliance with each

of the following requirements.

C. All manufactured homes subject to this chapter shall meet or exceed the most current

construction standards promulgated by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban

Development, as well as the South Carolina Manufactured Housing Board, including:

(1) A gable roof having a pitch with a minimum vertical rise of 4.5 feet for each 12 feet of



horizontal run. 

(2) A roof finished with shingles, with a fire rating of Class C or better, and that are commonly

used in standard residential construction.

(3) A minimum width of 24 feet and a minimum length of 40 feet.

(4) A roof structure that provides an eave projection of no less than 12 inches, which may

include a gutter.

(5) Exterior sliding, comparable in composition, appearance and durability to the exterior

siding commonly used in standard residential constructions, consisting of one or more of

the following:

(a) Vinyl siding whose reflectivity does not exceed that of flat white paint;

(b) Cedar or other wood siding;

(c) Wood grain;

(d) Stucco siding; or

(e) Brick or stone siding.

(6) Skirting must be installed and maintained so that it encloses the area under the

manufactured multi-section homes and modular porches, decks or other additions to

ground level. The foundation skirting or curtain wall may be of brick, masonry or stone

materials designed for permanent outdoor instillation.

(7) A permanent landing and steps with handrails are required for each outside doorway,

excluding the front door. The structure must include steps which lead to ground level. The

landing, handrails and steps must meet the following requirements:

(a) A minimum four-by-four landing shall be required outside each exit door.

(b) The landing shall not be more than 8.5 inches below the threshold.

(c) Steps shall be 8 1/4 inches maximum in height. Treads shall be a minimum of nine inches

wide.

(d) All wood components in contact with the ground must be treated and approved for ground

contact.

(e) If steps are 30 inches or greater in height, permanent handrails are to be installed.

(8) A front porch shall be erected and be at least eight feet by 10 feet.

(9) Units shall be placed on permanent foundation supports of concrete or other suitable

material adequate for the load.

(10) All visible mobile features shall be removed.



(11) If the proposed unit will be replacing another dwelling unit (mobile home, manufactured

home, stick-built) or be built within an existing neighborhood, the home must be

constructed to blend into the street and/or neighborhood. It should have the aesthetic

qualities of other dwelling units in the area.

(12) Decorated windows, bay windows, columns and fancier exterior trim are encouraged.

(13) Each manufactured home shall be anchored according to the HUD regulations of the

National Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety Standards Act or the

manufacturer's installation manual.

AND IS DONE AND RATIFIED in Council Duly assembled this ______Day of ________ 

2024. 

____________________________ 

Tim Hall, Mayor 

(seal) 

ATTEST: 

______________________________ 

Celia Boyd Myers, City Administrator 

Introduced By: ______________________________ 

First Reading:  February 20, 2024

Public Hearing, 

Second Reading 

And Adoption:  ______________________________ 



Background on roof pitch requirements: 

A steeper roof of 4/12 or more will make a manufactured home look much more 

like a conventional home. Many manufactured homes come with a 3/12 roof pitch, 

but some can be upgraded to a 4/12, 5/12 or greater. Usually pitches of 5/12 are 

limited to modular homes with hinged roofs, so they can be transported within 

height limits.  

In addition to aesthetics, it is believed a roof with a 4/12 pitch may also be better 

for shingles than a standard 3/12 pitched roof, assuming a shingled roof vs metal. 

Below is an image showing the angle of various roof pitches. 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 

COUNTY OF OCONEE ) ORDINANCE 2024-04 

CITY OF WALHALLA ) 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY OF WALHALLA CODE OF ORDINANCES, 

CHAPTER 330, ARTICLE III, SECTION 1.10 DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT OVER-

LAY DISTRICT REGARDING     APPROVAL FOR MURALS AND ARTICLE V, SEC-

TION 1.25 SIGN REGULATIONS REGARDING   APPROVAL FOR FREE-STANDING 

SIGNS WITHIN THE DOWNTOWN DESIGN OVERLAY 

Whereas, the Walhalla City Council adopted the Downtown Design Overlay and Design 

Guidelines for the purpose of creating site and building designs consistent with the City’s prin-

ciples, goals and policies, to be used by the City’s Planning & Community Development De-

partment and Planning Commission as a consistent framework for reviewing new projects; and 

Whereas, developments within the Downtown Design Overlay are expected to respond to de-

sign guidelines and standards in a manner that complements the historic character of the City of 

Walhalla; and 

Whereas, goals of Downtown Design Guidelines include the creation of memorable downtown 

experiences that are attractive, safe and inviting; constructing a visually attractive and economi-

cally vibrant urban center; and assuring new developments relates to the character of downtown 

and is compatible with surrounding neighborhoods; and 

Whereas, the City of Walhalla Planning & Community Development Department and Planning 

Commission are currently responsible for enforcing zoning regulations and reviewing permit 

applications; 

Now Therefore: it is ordained and enacted by the Mayor and Councilmembers of the City of 

Walhalla, in Council assembled, that Chapter 330, Article III, Section 1.10, and Chapter 330, 

Article V, Section 1.25 shall be amended as follows: 

Article III  

Establishment of Zoning Districts; Rules for Interpretation of Boundaries; Application of 

District Regulations  

§ 330-1.10 Downtown Development Overlay District

A. Downtown Development Overlay District

(4) Murals.

(a) Goal. The City of Walhalla would like to promote its history and culture through

the display of public art, including murals.

(b) Definitions. As used in this subsection, the following terms shall have the

meanings indicated:

https://ecode360.com/37535509#37535509
https://ecode360.com/37535510#37535510


MURAL: An image, such as a painting or enlarged photograph, applied 

directly to a wall or external ceiling. 

MURAL SIGN: A large picture/image (including but not limited to 

painted art) which is painted, constructed or affixed directly onto a 

vertical building wall, which may or may not contain text, logos and/or 

symbols. 

(c) Regulations.

[1] Murals are allowed with a mural permit in the Downtown

Development Overlay District.

[2] Murals are purely artistic forms of expression. While basic content is

free from evaluation, obscenity and other language deemed questionable

may require approval.

[3] Depending on content, murals will be evaluated for signage

calculation and the remaining area can be deemed a mural. If the

following content is incorporated within a mural, those items shall be

classified as signage and comply with the standards for attached wall

signs:

[a] Advertising message for contemporary establishments

and/or contemporary merchandise/services;

[b] Advertisement for products, services or businesses;

[c] Commercial text;

[d] Logos;

[e] Registered trademarks; and

[f] Containing graphics (other than logos or registered

trademarks) related to goods and services provided on site.

[4] Murals are highly visible in the public realm and may express City

history and community character. In the absence of a recognized group

tasked to review and consider these qualities, and the artistic intent of

the design, evaluation will be regulated on a content-neutral basis.

[5] No person shall paint a wall mural on the exterior of any structure or

change any existing mural on the exterior of any structure prior to the

issuance of a mural permit. The following design criteria shall apply to

any mural artwork commissioned:

[a] The proposed wall mural shall be well-integrated with

the building and neighboring structures and harmonious with

the surrounding environment. The proposed wall mural, by

its design, scale, construction and location, shall not have a

substantial adverse effect on abutting property or the

permitted use, and will contribute to Walhalla's character

and quality of life.

[b] The proposed wall mural shall exhibit exceptional design

quality that enhances the overall development and

appearance of Walhalla. The paint and/or materials to be

https://ecode360.com/37535511#37535511
https://ecode360.com/37535512#37535512
https://ecode360.com/37535513#37535513
https://ecode360.com/37535514#37535514
https://ecode360.com/37535515#37535515
https://ecode360.com/37535516#37535516
https://ecode360.com/37535517#37535517
https://ecode360.com/37535518#37535518
https://ecode360.com/37535519#37535519
https://ecode360.com/37535520#37535520
https://ecode360.com/37535521#37535521
https://ecode360.com/37535522#37535522
https://ecode360.com/37535523#37535523
https://ecode360.com/37535524#37535524
https://ecode360.com/37535525#37535525
https://ecode360.com/37535526#37535526


used and applied on the structure shall be appropriate for use 

in an outdoor locale for an artistic rendition and shall be of a 

permanent or long-lasting variety. 

[6] Maintenance of the wall mural is the responsibility of the property

owner. It shall be the property owner's responsibility to remove the

wall mural if it is not maintained as required. While natural aging is

acceptable, murals that are not maintained sufficiently may be

considered a public nuisance.

[7] A mural permit application shall be completed by the building owner

or their applicants' agent and submitted to the Zoning Administrator.

The application shall include at a minimum the intended location of

the mural, size, subject matter, medium and a summary of the general

color palette to be used. A visual representation shall also be included in

the application. Zoning Administrator shall prepare a staff

recommendation and present to Planning Commission. City Council

Planning Commission shall review and act to approve, deny or require

revisions in all submittals.

Article V 

Sign Regulations 

§ 330-1.10 General Regulations

D. Permitted signs. The following signs are allowed, subject to the permitting requirements of

§ 330-1.26, Permitting process, and the applicable development regulations of this Part 1.

(1) Permanent freestanding business identification signs.

(a) Allowable area: not to exceed 36 square feet in area for a single business, or 120

square feet for multiple businesses on the same panel.

(b) Number. One freestanding sign is allowed for each developed site, lot or parcel

on which a nonresidential use is constructed. Where a site or parcel fronts on more

than one street, one freestanding sign is permitted for each street. Where two or

more businesses or buildings occupy the same site or parcel controlled by a single

owner or landlord (shopping center or industrial park), only one freestanding sign

for the aggregate businesses shall be permitted per street frontage.

(c) Location. No freestanding sign shall:

[1] Be located nearer than five feet to any property line, nor shall such

sign face overhang or extend beyond the property line or in any way

impair visual clearance at driveway or street intersections.

[2] Be set back less than 10 feet from any street right-of-way line.

[3] Be permitted in the Downtown Development Overlay District unless

it meets all Downtown Design Guidelines, is aesthetically appropriate

and is approved by City Council the Zoning Administrator.

(d) Height: not higher than eight feet above finished grade of the ground at the sign

https://ecode360.com/37535527#37535527
https://ecode360.com/37535528#37535528
https://ecode360.com/37536098#37536098
https://ecode360.com/38046615#38046615
https://ecode360.com/37536070#37536070
https://ecode360.com/37536071#37536071
https://ecode360.com/37536072#37536072
https://ecode360.com/37536073#37536073
https://ecode360.com/37536074#37536074
https://ecode360.com/37536075#37536075
https://ecode360.com/37536076#37536076
https://ecode360.com/37536077#37536077


base, except a maximum height of 30 feet from the ground (pavement) is permitted 

in Highway Commercial or Light Industrial Districts only. 

(e) In Office Commercial Districts, a sign may be of berm or solid base design.

Application for berm design must be accompanied by a landscape maintenance plan.

(f) Where average elevation of a lot is lower than the finished grade of the abutting

edge of the sidewalk, a pole or support may be permitted to raise the sign to the

level allowed by height regulations.

(g) Sign must be permanently affixed. A solid base sign shall be ground-mounted,

solid all the way to the ground and constructed of wood, brick, masonry or similar

durable materials.

AND IS DONE AND RATIFIED in Council Duly assembled this ______Day of ________ 

2024. 

____________________________ 

Tim Hall, Mayor 

(seal) 

ATTEST: 

______________________________ 

Celia Boyd Myers, City Administrator 

Introduced By: ______________________________ 

First Reading:  February 20, 2024

Public Hearing, 

Second Reading 

And Adoption:  ______________________________ 

https://ecode360.com/37536078#37536078
https://ecode360.com/37536079#37536079
https://ecode360.com/37536080#37536080


STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 

COUNTY OF OCONEE )   ORDINANCE 2024-05 

CITY OF WALHALLA ) 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTERS 7 AND 287 OF THE CITY OF 
WALHALLA MUNICIPAL CODE TO MERGE THE BEAUTIFICATION  

COMMISSION AND TREE COMMITTEE. 

WHEREAS, the City of Walhalla (the “Municipality”) is authorized by S.C. Code Section 5-7-
30 and Title 6, Chapter 1, Article 3 to impose a business license tax on gross income;  

WHEREAS, the Tree Committee has assumed the duties of the Beautification Commission over; 

WHEREAS, the Standardization Act requires that by December thirty-first of every odd year, 
each municipality levying a business license tax must adopt, by ordinance, the latest Standardized 
Business License Class Schedule as recommended by the Municipal Association of South 
Carolina (the “Association”) and adopted by the Director of the Revenue and Fiscal Affairs 
Office; 

WHEREAS, following the enactment of the Standardization Act, the Municipality enacted 
Ordinance No. 2021-29 on December 21, 2021, in order to comply with the requirements of the 
Standardization Act (the “Current Business License Ordinance”); 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Walhalla (the “Council”) wishes to remove Chapter 7, Article 
IV and to amend Chapter 7, Article II and Chapter 287. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Walhalla, 
Chapter 7 and Chapter 287 are amended as follows: 

Chapter 7, Article II 
§ 7-5 Establishment of Tree and Beautification Committee

A. There is hereby created and established a Tree and Beautification Committee for the
City of Walhalla, which shall consist of seven members, who shall be appointed by the
Mayor with the approval of the City Council. Members of this Committee shall serve
without compensation.

B. Members shall have experience in forestry and/or gardening, including but not limited to
arborists, master gardeners, tree care specialists and garden club representatives.



§ 7-6 Terms of Membership

A. The term of membership shall be two years. Members shall serve until reappointment or
replacement. In the event that a vacancy should occur during the term of any member,
his or her successor shall be appointed for the unexpired portion of the term.

§ 7-5 Powers and Duties

A. The Committee shall have advisory powers over all trees, plants and shrubs located
within street rights-of-way, parks and public places of the City and to enforce Chapter
287 Trees and Vegetation.

B. The duties of the Committee shall include the study, investigation, development and
recommendation of plans for the improvement by beautification of the City of Walhalla,
to encourage the placing and planting and preservation of trees, flowers, plants and
shrubbery and other objects of ornamentation on City-owned property.

C. The Tree and Beautification Committee, or any member thereof, shall have no power or
authority to create any financial obligation or any other commitment for or against the
City of Walhalla or any of its departments.

§ 7-6 through 7-13 RESERVED

§ 7-20 RESERVED

Chapter 287 Trees and Vegetation 

§ 287-1 Scope of authority.

This chapter provides full power and authority over all trees, plants and shrubs located within 
street rights-of-way, parks and public places of the City.  

§ 287-2 Definitions.

For the purpose of this chapter, the following terms, phrases and words, and their derivations 
shall have the meanings given herein. The word "shall" is mandatory and not merely directory. 

CITY: The City of Walhalla, Oconee County, South Carolina. 
LARGE TREES: Trees attaining a height of 45 feet or more. 
MEDIUM TREES: Trees attaining a height of 30 feet to 45 feet. 
PARK TREES: Trees, shrubs, bushes and all other woody vegetation in public parks and areas 
owned by the City, or to which the public has free access as a park. 
SMALL TREES: Woody vegetation attaining a height of less than 30 feet. 
STREET TREES: Trees, shrubs, bushes and all other woody vegetation on land lying between 
property lines on either side of all streets, avenues or ways within the City. 



§ 287-3 Tree and Vegetation Protection.

It shall be unlawful for any person to engage in the business of planting, cutting, trimming, 
pruning, removing, spraying or otherwise treating trees, shrubs or vines on City-owned property 
without first notifying the Tree and Beautification Committee. No person shall plant, remove, 
cut above the ground or disturb any tree on any street, park or other public place without first 
obtaining permission from the Tree and Beautification Committee. The person receiving 
permission shall abide by the standards set forth in this chapter. Emergency actions taken by 
utility providers and emergency personnel are exempt. 

§ 287-4 Tree Planting, Maintenance and Removal.

A. Planting species. The Tree and Beautification Committee shall develop and maintain a list of
desirable trees, shrubs and other plants for planting along streets in three size classes: small,
medium and large. A list of trees and other plants not suitable for planting will also be created
and enforced by the Tree and Beautification Committee.

B. Spacing. The spacing of street trees will be in accordance with the three species size classes
listed in this chapter, and no trees may be planted closer together than the following, except in
special plantings designed or approved by the City's landscape designee:

(1) Small trees: 30 feet.
(2) Medium trees: 40 feet.
(3) Large trees: 50 feet.

C. Utilities.

(1) No street trees other than those defined herein as "small trees" may be planted four feet
from curbs or curblines and sidewalks; planting will be in accordance with the three species size 
classes defined in § 287-2 of this chapter, and no trees may be planted closer to any curb or 
sidewalk than the following: 

(a) Small trees: four (4) feet,
(b) Medium trees: eight (8) feet,
(c) Large trees: sixteen (16) feet.

(2) Distance from street corners, driveways and fire hydrants. No street tree shall be planted
closer than 25 feet to any street corner, measured from the point of intersecting right-of-way 
lines. No tree shall be planted any closer than 10 feet to any driveway accessing public lands or 
lands containing multiple use. Single-family homes are exempt from the driveway provision. 
No tree shall be planted any closer than 10 feet to any fire hydrant. 

D. Topping. It shall be unlawful as a normal practice of any person, firm or City department to
top any street tree, park tree or other tree on public property. "Topping" is defined as the severe
cutting back of limbs to stubs within the tree's crown to such a degree as to remove the normal
canopy and disfigure the tree. Trees severely damaged by storms or other causes may be
exempted from this subsection at the determination of the Tree and Beautification Committee.



E. Removal.

(1) The City will consult with the Tree and Beautification Committee prior to the cutting of
any tree(s) on City property, greater than six inches in diameter or 36 inches from the ground. 
The saving of all native trees is encouraged. 

(2) Permission may be waived if the tree removal is in conjunction with an application for a
building permit and a site plan approval. 

(3) Permission is exempted in the following instances:

(a) Dead trees.
(b) Government construction of utilities or other infrastructure.
(c) Jeopardizing the health, safety and welfare of the general public, as designated in this
chapter.

(4) The Tree and Beautification Committee may remove or cause or order to be removed
any tree or part thereof which is in an unsafe condition or which by reason of its nature is 
injurious to sewers, electric power lines, gas lines, water lines or other public improvements, or 
is affected with any injurious fungus, insect or other pest. This section does not prohibit the 
planting of street trees by adjacent property owners. 

(5) Every owner, either public or private, of any tree overhanging any street or right-of-way
within the City shall prune the branches so that such branches shall not obstruct the light from 
any street lamp or obstruct the view of any street intersection. Owners shall remove all dead, 
diseased or dangerous trees, or broken or decayed limbs which constitute a menace to the safety 
of the public. The City shall have the right to prune any tree or shrub on private property when 
it interferes with the visibility of any traffic control device or sign. The City shall have the right 
to cause the removal of any dead or diseased trees on private property within the City when 
such trees constitute a hazard to life and/or property or harbor insects or disease which 
constitutes a potential threat to other trees within the City. The City Tree and Beautification 
Committee will notify in writing the owners of such trees. Removal shall be done by said 
owners at their own expense within 60 days after the date of service of notice. In the event of 
failure of owners to comply with such provisions, the City shall have the authority to remove 
such trees and charge the cost of removal of any public tree. 

F. Replacement of trees. As a condition of approval for the removal of certain trees, the Tree
and Beautification Committee may require that suitable replacement trees be planted elsewhere
on the site. In determining if replacement trees are required, the following will be considered:

(1) The intended use of the property.

(2) Existing (pre-development) tree coverage, sizes and types.

(3) The general character of the site and its environs.

(4) Grading, road, parking and drainage requirements of the project.



§ 287-5 Tree Care; Landmark Trees.

A. The Tree and Beautification Committee shall locate, select and identify trees which quality
as "landmark trees." A tree may qualify as a landmark tree if it meets one or more of the
following criteria: species rarity, old age, association with an historical event or person,
abnormality or scenic enhancement.

§ 287-6 Enforcement; violations and penalties.

A. The Tree and Beautification Committee shall have the power to promulgate and enforce
rules, regulations and specifications concerning the trimming, spraying, removal, planting,
pruning and protection of trees, shrubs, vines, hedges and other plants upon the right-of-way of
any street, alley, sidewalk or other public place in the City.

B. The City Council shall have the right to review the conduct, acts and decisions of the Tree
and Beautification Committee. Any person may appeal from any ruling or order of the Tree and
Beautification Committee to the City Council, which may hear the matter and make final
decisions.

C. Any person, firm or corporation violating or failing to comply with any of the provisions of
this chapter shall be guilty of a misdemeanor, and upon conviction thereof shall be fined for
each offense a sum no less than $1 nor more than $500, or may be imprisoned for a term not
exceeding 30 days.

AND IS DONE AND RATIFIED in Council Duly assembled this ______Day of ________ 
2024. 

____________________________ 
Tim Hall, Mayor 

(seal) 

ATTEST: 

______________________________ 
Celia Boyd Myers, City Administrator 

Introduced By: ______________________________ 

First Reading:  February 20, 2024

Public Hearing, 
Second Reading 
And Adoption:  ______________________________ 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 

COUNTY OF OCONEE  )   ORDINANCE 2024-06 

CITY OF WALHALLA  ) 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE BUSINESS LICENSE ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF WALHALLA 
TO UPDATE THE CLASS SCHEDULE AS REQUIRED BY ACT 176 OF 2020. 

WHEREAS, the City of Walhalla (the “Municipality”) is authorized by S.C. Code Section 5-7-30 
and Title 6, Chapter 1, Article 3 to impose a business license tax on gross income;  

WHEREAS, by Act No. 176 of 2020, known as the South Carolina Business License Tax 
Standardization Act and codified at S.C. Code Sections 6-1-400 to -420 (the “Standardization 
Act”), the South Carolina General Assembly imposed additional requirements and conditions on 
the administration of business license taxes; 

WHEREAS, the Standardization Act requires that by December thirty-first of every odd year, 
each municipality levying a business license tax must adopt, by ordinance, the latest 
Standardized Business License Class Schedule as recommended by the Municipal Association of 
South Carolina (the “Association”) and adopted by the Director of the Revenue and Fiscal Affairs 
Office; 

WHEREAS, following the enactment of the Standardization Act, the Municipality enacted 
Ordinance No. 2021-29 on December 21, 2021, in order to comply with the requirements of the 
Standardization Act (the “Current Business License Ordinance”); 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Walhalla (the “Council”) now wishes to amend the Current 
Business License Ordinance to adopt the latest Standardized Business License Class Schedule, as 
required by the Standardization Act, and to make other minor amendments as recommended 
by the Association;  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Walhalla, as follows: 

SECTION 1. Amendments to Appendix A. Appendix A to the Current Business License Ordinance, 
the “Business License Rate Schedule,” is hereby amended as follows: 

(a) Class 8.3 is hereby amended by deleting the NAICS Codes and replacing them
with NAICS 517111, 517112, 517122 – Telephone Companies.

(b) Class 8.6 is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows: “8.6
NAICS Code Varies – Billiard or Pool Tables. A business that offers the use of
billiard or pool tables shall be subject to business license taxation under its
natural class for all gross income of the business excluding the gross income
attributable to the billiard or pool tables. In addition, the billiard or pool tables



shall require their own separate business licenses pursuant to SC Code § 12-21-
2746 and shall be subject to a license tax of $5.00 per table measuring less than 
3½ feet wide and 7 feet long, and $12.50 per table longer than that.” 

SECTION 2. Amendments to Appendix B. Appendix B to the Current Business License Ordinance, 
the “Business License Class Schedule,” is hereby amended as follows: 

(a) Classes 1 through 8 in Appendix B to the Current Business License Ordinance, the
“Business License Class Schedule,” are hereby amended and restated as set forth
on the attached Exhibit A.

(b) Class 9 in Appendix B to the Current Business License Ordinance, the “Business
License Class Schedule,” shall remain in full force and effect as set forth in the
Current Business License Ordinance.

SECTION 3. Repealer, Effective Date. All ordinances in conflict with this ordinance are hereby 
repealed. This ordinance shall be effective with respect to the business license year beginning 
on May 1, 2024. 

AND IS DONE AND RATIFIED in Council Duly assembled this ______Day of ________ 2024. 

____________________________ 
Tim Hall, Mayor 

(seal) 

ATTEST: 

______________________________ 
Celia Boyd Myers, City Administrator 

Introduced By: ______________________________ 

First Reading:  February 20, 2024

Public Hearing, 
Second Reading 
And Adoption:  ______________________________ 



Exhibit A: Amendment to Classes 1 – 8 in Appendix B of the 
Current Business License Ordinance 

APPENDIX B 
Classes 1 – 8: Business License Class Schedule by NAICS Codes 

NAICS  
Sector/Subsector Industry Sector Class 
11 Agriculture, forestry, hunting and fishing 1 
21 Mining 2 
22 Utilities 1 
31 - 33 Manufacturing 3 
42 Wholesale trade 1 
44 - 45 Retail trade 1 
48 - 49 Transportation and warehousing 1 
51 Information 4 
52 Finance and insurance 7 
53 Real estate and rental and leasing 7 
54 Professional, scientific, and technical services 5 
55 Management of companies 7 
56 Administrative and support and waste management and remediation services 3 
61 Educational services 3 
62 Health care and social assistance 4 
71 Arts, entertainment, and recreation 3 
721 Accommodation 1 
722 Food services and drinking places 2 
81 Other services 4 

Class 8 Subclasses 
23 Construction 8.1 
482 Rail Transportation 8.2 
517111 Wired Telecommunications Carriers 8.3 
517112 Wireless Telecommunications Carriers (except Satellite) 8.3 
517122 Agents for Wireless Telecommunications Services 8.3 
5241 Insurance Carriers 8.4 
5242 Insurance Brokers for non-admitted Insurance Carriers 8.4 
713120 Amusement Parks and Arcades 8.51 
713290 Nonpayout Amusement Machines 8.52 
713990 All Other Amusement and Recreational Industries ( pool tables) 8.6 

2023 Class Schedule is based on a three-year average (2017 - 2019) of IRS statistical data. 



Page 1 of 1 
 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA           ) 
 

COUNTY OF OCONEE                         )  ORDINANCE NO. 2024-07  

CITY OF WALHALLA                          ) 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE WATER AND SEWER USE ORDINANCE OF THE 
CITY OF WALHALLA 

 
Whereas, the City of Walhalla provides water service to City and surrounding area residents; and  
 
Whereas, some properties do not have frontage, preventing them from connecting to water 
services; and 
 
Whereas, the City desires to provide water services to area residents, when requested, while 
respecting property lines and the property rights of citizens; and 
 
Whereas, the City of Walhalla desires to update the Water and Sewer Ordinance to allow 
customers the ability to access water service by a recorded utility easement;  

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Walhalla 
amends the Water and Sewer Ordinance to include the following: 

 
Section 319. Water lines and meters shall be placed on property owned by the customer or on 

property where a valid utility easement is in effect, providing the customer access. Easements 
must be recorded and transfer with the land. 

 
DONE AND RATIFIED in Council duly assembled this   day of  , 2024. 

 
 
 
 

Tim Hall, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

 
 

Celia Myers, City Administrator 
 

Introduced By:   
 

First Reading:   
 

Second Reading 
and adoption:   



 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
 
COUNTY OF OCONEE  )            ORDINANCE 2024-08 
 
CITY OF WALHALLA  ) 

 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY OF WALHALLA CODE OF ORDINANCES, CHAPTER 25 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVES; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

 
Whereas, the Walhalla City Council adopted Ordinance 2017-07 to establish an Economic De-
velopment Incentive Program; and 
 
Whereas, the program is to allow public support of economic projects to foster, promote and 
enhance local economic development efforts; and 
 
Whereas, the City wishes to encourage and support economic development while also being 
responsive to the City’s financial health; and 
 
Whereas, the City of Walhalla desires to amend the Economic Development Incentive Program 
offerings;  
 
Now Therefore: it is ordained and enacted by the Mayor and Councilmembers of the City of 
Walhalla, in Council assembled, that Chapter 25, Section 25-6 and Section 25-7 be amended as 
follows: 
 
§ 25-6 General eligibility criteria. 
Except for those incentives discussed in § 25-7I below as authorized by the state and which are 
intended by the terms of this Economic Development Incentive Program to be applied City-
wide, in order for a development to be eligible to receive incentives, the Council must deter-
mine that the development meets, or upon completion will meet, each of the following crite-
ria: 

A. The development must be consistent with the City of Walhalla Comprehensive 
Plan, as adopted. 
 
B. The development must be located within the City limits of Walhalla or establish 
a location for business within the City even if it has previously conducted the same 
or similar operations at locations outside the City. 
 
C. The development must have a minimum threshold investment which may be 
comprised of a combination of physical improvements and acquisition costs; such 
threshold investment may be comprised of a single real property investment or a 
cumulative investment. 



 

 
D. The development must be for one or more of the following: 

(1) Retail uses as identified in the most current Retail Market Power Da-
tabase provided by Claritas. 
(2) Tourism-related business or activity. 
(3) Cultural arts activities and associated businesses. 
(4) District offices or corporate headquarters. 
(5) Research and development. 
(6) High technology growth business. 
(7) Residential projects including three or more single-family units, mul-
tifamily units or condominiums. 
(8) Other uses as may be determined the City of Walhalla which meet 
the intent of this chapter and as are identified more specifically accord-
ing to the adopted master plans and/or redevelopment plans. 

 
E. The City reserves the right to exclude from consideration proposed projects that 
it deems incompatible with the City's Comprehensive Plan, Downtown Design 
Overlay or with the City's overall goal of encouraging development that will 
strengthen property values and enhance appearance and quality of life within the 
community. Such proposed projects include but are not limited to the following: 

(1) Service or gas stations. 
(2) Tattoo parlors. 
(3) Manufactured home parks. 
(4) Auto garage facilities. 
(5) Commercial laundries. 
(6) Tobacco or vape shops 
(7) Liquor stores  
(8) Other retail and/or service uses determined by the City not to ad-
vance the goal of establishing quality investment in the City of Wal-
halla. 

 
F. No business and no successor or affiliated business entity having one or more of 
the same principals and substantially the same business activity may cease busi-
ness operations in the name of one business and then resume business operations 
in another name if the effect of such resumption is to circumvent this section or to 
prolong the incentives provided beyond the incentive agreement. 

 
 
 
 
 



 

§ 25-7 Incentives from City. 
The Council may, at its discretion and on a case-by-case basis, enter into an incentive agree-
ment to reimburse or refund any person, firm or corporation proposing to invest in develop-
ment or redevelopment of property within the City of Walhalla the following fees and taxes up 
to the amounts and percentages provided for herein: 

 
A. Up to 100% of the labor and equipment cost related to the installation of appli-
cable tap fees collected by the City. Applicant shall be responsible for the materials 
cost. 
B. Up to 50% of the local hospitality taxes collected by the City for as many as three 
years, but funds received through such incentive are to be spent only for purposes 
that are related to tourism, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-730, and which have 
been approved by Council and included in the incentive agreement. 
 
C. Up to 50% of local accommodations taxes collected by the City for as many as 
three years, but funds received through such incentive are to be spent only for pur-
poses related to tourism, pursuant to S. C. Code Ann. § 6-1-530, and which have 
been approved by Council and included in the incentive agreement. 
 
D. Such other incentives that the Council, at its discretion on a case-by-case basis, 
determines are appropriate given the amount or type of investment made by the 
incentive recipient, such as property tax credits for up to five years with the re-
quirement that the financial investment be a minimum of 50% of the current prop-
erty value and be spent within two years. 
E. State incentive programs. The state programs that may be considered by Council 
to be included within any package of incentives or as a standalone set of incentives 
for in-City projects: 

(1) Property tax credits authorized by the provisions of the South Caro-
lina Abandoned Buildings Revitalization Act, codified at S.C. Code Ann. 
§ 12-67-100 et seq. (collectively, the "Abandoned Building Act"). Incen-
tive recipients requesting consideration for the Abandoned Building Act 
by Council shall submit an Abandoned Building Act application form. 
(2) The South Carolina real property tax credit for the installation of a 
fire sprinkler system, codified as S. C. Code Ann. § 12-6-3622. 
(3) Property tax credits authorized by the provisions of the South Caro-
lina Textiles Communities Revitalization Act, codified at S.C. Code Ann. 
§ 12-65-40. 

 

 



 

AND IS DONE AND RATIFIED in Council Duly assembled this ______Day of ________ 2024. 

 
 

____________________________ 
Tim Hall, Mayor 
 

(seal) 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Celia Boyd Myers, City Administrator 
 
Introduced By: ______________________________ 
 
First Reading:  ______________________________ 
 
Public Hearing, 
Second Reading 
And Adoption:  ______________________________ 
 
  



 

Red-Line Version 
 
 
§ 25-6 General eligibility criteria. 

Except for those incentives discussed in § 25-7I below as authorized by the state and which are 

intended by the terms of this Economic Development Incentive Program to be applied City-

wide, in order for a development to be eligible to receive incentives, the Council must deter-

mine that the development meets, or upon completion will meet, each of the following criteria: 

A. The development must be consistent with the City of Walhalla Comprehensive 

Plan and the City of Walhalla Master Plan, as adopted. 

B. The development must be located within the City limits of Walhalla or establish 

a location for business within the City even if it has previously conducted the same 

or similar operations at locations outside the City. 

C. The development must have a minimum threshold investment which may be 

comprised of a combination of physical improvements and acquisition costs; such 

threshold investment may be comprised of a single real property investment or a cu-

mulative investment. 

D. The development must be for one or more of the following: 

(1) Retail uses as identified in the most current Retail Market Power Da-

tabase provided by Claritas. 

(2) Tourism-related business or activity. 

(3) Cultural arts activities and associated businesses. 

(4) District offices or corporate headquarters. 

(5) Research and development. 

(6) High technology growth business. 

(7) Residential projects including three or more single-family units, mul-

tifamily units or condominiums. 

(8) Other uses as may be determined the City of Walhalla which meet 

the intent of this chapter and as are identified more specifically accord-

ing to the adopted master plans and/or redevelopment plans. 

E. The City reserves the right to exclude from consideration proposed projects that it 

deems incompatible with the City's Comprehensive Plan, Downtown Design Over-

lay Master Plan or with the City's overall goal of encouraging development that will 

strengthen property values and enhance appearance and quality of life within the 



 

community. Such proposed projects include but are not limited to the following: 

(1) Service or gas stations. 

(2) Tattoo parlors. 

(3) Child-care homes. 

(4) Mobile Manufactured home parks. 

(5) Auto garage facilities. 

(6) Commercial laundries. 

(7) Tobacco or vape shops 

(8) Liquor stores  

(9) Other retail and/or service uses determined by the City not to ad-

vance the goal of establishing quality investment in the City of Wal-

halla. 

F. No business and no successor or affiliated business entity having one or more of 

the same principals and substantially the same business activity may cease business 

operations in the name of one business and then resume business operations in an-

other name if the effect of such resumption is to circumvent this section or to pro-

long the incentives provided beyond the incentive agreement. 

§ 25-7 Incentives from City. 

The Council may, at its discretion and on a case-by-case basis, enter into an incentive agreement 

to reimburse or refund any person, firm or corporation proposing to invest in development or 

redevelopment of property within the City of Walhalla the following fees and taxes up to the 

amounts and percentages provided for herein: 

A. Up to 100% of the labor and equipment cost related to the installation of applica-

ble tap fees collected by the City. Applicant shall be responsible for the materials 

cost. 

B. The following business license tax incentives: 

(1) Year 1: A grant in the amount of 100% of the business license tax 

due to the City will be reimbursed after the business license taxes are 

paid to the City of Walhalla. 

(2) Year 2: A grant in the amount of 75% of the proposed business li-

cense tax rate based on gross income after the taxes are paid to the City 

will be reimbursed to the applicant. 

(3) Year 3: A grant in the amount of 50% of the business license tax rate 



 

based on gross income after the taxes are paid to the City will be reim-

bursed to the applicant. 

(4) Year 4: A grant in the amount of 25% of the business license tax rate 

based on gross income after taxes are paid to the City will be reimbursed 

to the applicant. 

(5) After Year 4, business license taxes will be the responsibility of the 

property owner/business owner and will be the proposed rate based on 

gross income. 

C. Up to 50% of the local hospitality taxes collected by the City for as many as five 

three years, but funds received through such incentive are to be spent only for pur-

poses that are related to tourism, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 6-1-730, and which 

have been approved by Council and included in the incentive agreement. 

D. Up to 50% of local accommodations taxes collected by the City for as many as 

five three years, but funds received through such incentive are to be spent only for 

purposes related to tourism, pursuant to S. C. Code Ann. § 6-1-530, and which have 

been approved by Council and included in the incentive agreement. 

E. Up to 100% of solid waste fees for as many as five years. 

F. Up to 100% of infrastructure costs for commercial development projects for as 

many as five years. 

G. Up to 100% of infrastructure costs for residential development projects for as 

many as five years. 

H. Such other incentives that the Council, at its discretion on a case-by-case basis, 

determines are appropriate given the amount or type of investment made by the in-

centive recipient, such as property tax credits for up to five years with the require-

ment that the financial investment be a minimum of 50% of the current property 

value and be spent within two years. 

I. State incentive programs. The state programs that may be considered by Council 

to be included within any package of incentives or as a standalone set of incentives 

for in-City projects: 

(1) Property tax credits authorized by the provisions of the South Caro-

lina Abandoned Buildings Revitalization Act, codified at S.C. Code 

Ann. § 12-67-100 et seq. (collectively, the "Abandoned Building Act"). 



 

Incentive recipients requesting consideration for the Abandoned Build-

ing Act by Council shall submit an Abandoned Building Act application 

form. 

(2) The South Carolina real property tax credit for the installation of a 

fire sprinkler system, codified as S. C. Code Ann. § 12-6-3622. 

(3) Property tax credits authorized by the provisions of the South Caro-

lina Textiles Communities Revitalization Act, codified at S.C. Code 

Ann. § 12-65-40. 



 

 
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 
 
COUNTY OF OCONEE  )            ORDINANCE 2024-09 
 
CITY OF WALHALLA  ) 

 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY OF WALHALLA FY 2023-2024 BUDGET, APPENDIX A 

GENERAL FUND FEES TO ALLOW DISCOUNTED RENTAL RATES FOR CIVIC AND NON-PROFIT 
ORGANIZATIONS THAT USE CITY FACILITIES; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO. 

 
Whereas, the Walhalla City Council adopted Ordinance 2023-13 entitled “An Ordinance to 
raise revenue and adopt a budget for general, water, sewer and hospitality funds, herein 
known as the “Unified Budget of the City of Walhalla, South Carolina” for the fiscal year begin-
ning July 1, 2023 and ending June 30, 2024, and other matters related thereto”; and 
 
Whereas, the amendment is made part hereof as fully as if incorporated herein ad a copy 
thereof attached and also be known as the current approved fiscal year budget document; and 
 
Whereas, the City of Walhalla wishes to encourage civic groups to actively participate in com-
munity-building activities, while upholding the principle of shared responsibility for public re-
sources; 
 
Whereas, the City of Walhalla desires to create a policy and discounted rental fee schedule for 
civic and non-profit organizations in the City of Walhalla; 
 
Now Therefore: it is ordained and enacted by the Mayor and Councilmembers of the City of 
Walhalla, in Council assembled, that the FY 2023-2024 Budget, Appendix A is amended as fol-
lows: 
 
Discounted Pricing for Non-Profit and Civic Organizations 

Non-Profit and Civic Organizations based in Walhalla shall be entitled to use City facilities, 
available for rent, once a month at no cost. Additional usage would be subject to the below 
discounted rates.

Usage of 4 times a month or more 
4 hours - $100 
8 hours - $200 
All day - $300 

Usage of 3 times a month or more 
4 hours - $150 
8 hours - $350 
All day - $550 

Organizations shall supply documentation of their private, non-profit status at the time of 
reservation, when requesting the discounted rate. All other policies and insurance 
requirements remain in force. 



 

City Council members and City employees, who have successfully completed a six-month 
probationary period are entitled to one City facility rental per calendar year at no charge. All 
other policies and insurance requirements remain in force. 

AND IS DONE AND RATIFIED in Council Duly assembled this ______Day of ________ 2024. 

 
 
____________________________ 
Tim Hall, Mayor 

 
(seal) 
 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Celia Boyd Myers, City Administrator 
 
Introduced By: ______________________________ 
 
First Reading:  ______________________________ 
 
Public Hearing, 
Second Reading 
And Adoption:  ______________________________ 



Current Depot Usage for Civic and Non-Pro� Groups 

 

Group A: Approximately fi�een uses a year 

Uses at least 3 �mes a month on Mondays in March and April. Then again star�ng in August to prepare 
for Oktoberfest and the Main Street Christmas date. 

Group B: Approximately ten uses a year 

Uses the second Monday of each month for about 10 out of the 12 months. A nonprofit group that has 
donated funds toward the Earle House and Old St John mee�ng house, city pool, Tree City USA signs, 
Chicopee Field, heritage oaks replacements and funding for downtown trees.  

Group C: Approximately fi�y-two uses a year 

Uses every Monday, every month. Helps the community through various projects, such as the Pedals 
Possible program, donates �me for volunteering, works with Oktoberfest Commitee for annual event 
and luncheon, and other community events.  



§ 330-1.19. OC Office Commercial District.

A. Purposes.

(1) It is the intent of this section that the OC Zoning District be developed and reserved for

local or neighborhood-oriented business and compatible residential use purposes. The

regulations which apply within this district are designed to encourage the formation and

continuation of a stable, healthy and compatible environment for uses that are located

so as to provide nearby residential areas with convenient shopping and service facilities;

reduce traffic and parking congestion; avoid the development of "strip" business

districts; promote residential uses compatible with commercial activities; and

discourage industrial and other encroachment capable of adversely affecting the

localized commercial character of the district.

(2) If a property contained within the OC District is also included in the Downtown

Development Overlay District, the requirements of § 330-1.10A of this Part 1 will also

apply to said property. See § 330-1.25 for sign standards for properties within the

overlay district.

B. Permitted uses. The following uses shall be permitted in the OC Zoning District:

(1) Retail business involving the sale or rental of merchandise on the premises, specifically

including, but not limited to:

(a) Gift shop.

(b) Candy store.

(c) Office equipment and supplies shop.

(d) Drugstore or pharmacy, health and beauty aids.

(e) Grocery store.

(f) Hardware store, household goods, wallpaper.

(g) Package liquor store.

(h) Video and record store.

(i) Flower shop.

(j) Catalog sale store.

(2) Business involving the rendering of a personal service or the servicing of small

equipment, specifically including, but not limited to:

(a) Bank, savings and loan association, personal loan agency.

(b) Barbershop, beauty shop, or combination thereof.

(c) Self-service dry cleaning or laundromat.

City of Walhalla, SC

Downloaded from https://ecode360.com/WA4233 on 2024-03-06



(d) Medical, dental or chiropractic office.

(e) Real estate agency.

(f) School offering instruction in art, music, dancing, drama or similar cultural

activities.

(g) Shoe repair shop.

(h) Club, lodge, union hall or social center.

(i) Legal office.

(j) Insurance sales office.

(k) Custom embroidery production and sales.

(3) Accessory use in compliance with the provisions of § 330-1.46.

(4) All residential activities as described in the MFR Zoning District.

C. Conditional uses. The following uses shall be permitted on a conditional basis in any OC

Zoning District:

(1) Auto accessory store, provided there is no storage of wrecked automobiles or scrapped

or salvage auto parts on the premises.

(2) Automobile service station (not gasoline stations), provided operations involving major

repairs, body and fender work, painting or the sale or rental of new or used cars or

trucks, trailers of any type or boats is not conducted on the premises. No junk or salvage

vehicles shall be stored on site.

(3) Bakery, provided that goods baked on the premises are sold only at retail on the

premises.

(4) Delicatessen, restaurant, soda fountain or other eating and drinking establishments

(other than drive-in establishments), provided no outside loudspeaker systems are

utilized, and provided all lights or lighting arrangements used for purposes of

advertising or night operations are directed away from adjoining or nearby residential

properties.

(5) Dry cleaning or laundry pickup agency, provided that any laundering, cleaning or

pressing done on the premises involves only articles delivered to the premises by

individual customers.

(6) Temporary use in compliance with the provisions of § 330-1.45.

(7) Funeral homes, provided that the minimum lot size is one acre.

(8) Single-family and multifamily residential uses as set forth in the MFR District.

(9) Any commercial establishment selling or serving alcoholic beverages, whether

consumed on the premises or not.

City of Walhalla, SC

§ 330-1.19 § 330-1.19

Downloaded from https://ecode360.com/WA4233 on 2024-03-06



(10) Accessory uses as provided for in § 330-1.46.

(11) Major retailers, provided they adhere to the following conditions: They must comply

with the Downtown Design Guidelines. [Added 9-21-2021 by Ord. No. 2021-17 ]

D. Special exception uses. Certain uses within any OC Zoning District are to be special

exception uses pursuant to the requirements and procedures of § 330-1.47 and all subsections

and all conditions stipulated herein:

(1) Gasoline filling stations. In addition to all conditions of the special exception use permit,

at a minimum all pumps must be set back at least 25 feet from the right-of-way line of

all abutting streets. No junk or salvage vehicles shall be stored on site.

(2) Antennas, towers, masts and similar structures measuring over 17 feet above the top of

the highest peak of the roofline.

(3) Communication towers.

E. Other requirements. Uses in Office Commercial Zoning Districts shall be required to

conform to the standards set forth below. All other relevant portions of this Part 1 shall apply.

(1) Minimum lot requirements: 8,000 square feet.

(2) Minimum width in feet: 60 feet measured at the front setback line.

(3) Minimum setback requirements.

(a) Front: 30 feet.

(b) Side: 10 feet on either side, but the total shall not be less than 25 feet.

(c) Rear: 10 feet.

(4) Maximum height of building: four stories or 56 feet. [Amended at time of adoption of

Code (see Ch. 1, General Provisions, Art. II)]

(5) Maximum structure surface coverage of lot: 60%.

(6) There shall be no more than two access points on an arterial street for every one lot of

record; provided, however:

(a) If a primary access to a lot of record is available on an intersecting street, then

access on the arterial street shall be limited to one access per lot of record.

(b) Such access on an arterial street is granted only provided that there is a minimum

of 80 feet from such access to the right-of-way of an intersecting street.

(c) There shall be no more than one access point granted within a given 50 feet of

frontage.

(7) No drive-throughs of any kind are permitted. [Added 9-21-2021 by Ord. No. 2021-17

]

City of Walhalla, SC

§ 330-1.19 § 330-1.21

Downloaded from https://ecode360.com/WA4233 on 2024-03-06

37315SC
Highlight

37315SC
Highlight



§ 330-1.21. CC Core Commercial District.

A. Purpose. The intent of the CC Zoning District is to encourage the maintenance or

enhancement of a centrally located trade, commercial, residential activities, and community

service area, and to provide for the orderly expansion of such uses. All property contained

within the CC District is also included in the Downtown Development Overlay District.

Therefore, the requirements contained in § 330-1.10A of this Part 1 will apply to said

property, in addition to all other requirements contained in this § 330-1.21. The sign

requirements of § 330-1.25 pertaining to properties within the Downtown Overlay District

also apply to all parcels within the CC District.

B. Permitted uses. The following uses shall be permitted in any CC Zoning District:

(1) Any use permitted in any OC Zoning District.

C. Conditional uses. The following uses shall be permitted on a conditional basic in any CC

Zoning District:

(1) Any use permitted on a conditional basis in any OC Zoning District subject to the

conditions of § 330-1.19C, including major retailers, provided they establish themselves

in a structure that was constructed before Ord. No. 1994-8 and have over 15,000 square

feet. [Amended 9-21-2021 by Ord. No. 2021-17 ]

(2) Single-family and multifamily residential uses as set forth in the MFR Zoning District,

provided such use is not on the ground floor of the building.

(3) Hotel use as set forth in the HC Zoning District, provided no rooming units are on the

ground floor of the building.

D. Special exception uses. Certain uses within any Core Commercial District are to be special

exception uses pursuant to the requirements and procedures of § 330-1.47 and all subsections

and all conditions stipulated herein:

(1) Gasoline filling stations. In addition to all conditions of the special exception use permit,

at a minimum all pumps must be set back at least 25 feet from the right-of-way line of

all abutting streets. No junk or salvage vehicles shall be stored on site.

(2) Antennas, towers, masts and similar structures measuring over 17 feet above the top of

the highest peak of the roofline.

E. Other requirements. Uses permitted in CC Zoning Districts shall be required to conform to

the standards set forth below. All other relevant portions of this Part 1 shall apply.

(1) Maximum height of building: 5.5 stories or 77 feet. [Amended at time of adoption of

Code (see Ch. 1, General Provisions, Art. II)]

(2) Setbacks from sidewalk shall not be required.

(3) No vacant building in the CC District shall be used for storage of equipment or

materials. Any vacant commercial or office building in the CC District shall have 120

days following adoption of this Zoning Ordinance to come into compliance with the

City of Walhalla, SC

§ 330-1.21 § 330-1.21

Downloaded from https://ecode360.com/WA4233 on 2024-03-06

37315SC
Highlight

37315SC
Highlight



aforementioned standard by removing all stored materials and equipment. [Amended

at time of adoption of Code (see Ch. 1, General Provisions, Art. II)]

(4) Where provided, off-street parking for nonresidential uses shall be located in the rear or

side yard of the use. Parking areas existing when this ordinance provision became

effective may be used to meet parking needs for reuse of existing buildings in the CC

District.

(5) No drive-throughs of any kind are permitted. [Added 9-21-2021 by Ord. No. 2021-17

]

City of Walhalla, SC

§ 330-1.21 § 330-1.21

Downloaded from https://ecode360.com/WA4233 on 2024-03-06


	February 12 2024_PC Agenda Packet.pdf
	Agenda and Files.pdf
	February 12, 2024_PC Agenda.pdf
	January 8, 2024_PC Minutes.pdf
	January 29, 2024_PC Retreat Minutes.pdf

	Text Amendments and Goals.pdf
	Text Amendments.pdf
	Text Amendments.pdf
	Ordinance 2024-02_ADU Ordinance.pdf
	Background on roof pitch requirements.pdf
	Ordinance 2024-03_Roof Slope of Mobile Homes.pdf

	Ordinance 2024-04_Sign Amendments.pdf

	Comprehensive Plan Goals and Strategies.pdf
	Goals for 2024 for Planning Commission.pdf


	Ordinance 2024-09_Budget Amendment.pdf
	AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY OF WALHALLA FY 2023-2024 BUDGET, APPENDIX A GENERAL FUND FEES TO ALLOW DISCOUNTED RENTAL RATES FOR CIVIC AND NON-PROFIT ORGANIZATIONS THAT USE CITY FACILITIES; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO.

	Zoning Designations_OC Office Commercial District. - CC Core Commercial District.pdf
	§ 330-1.19 OC Office Commercial District.
	§ 330-1.21 CC Core Commercial District.

	ADPF905.tmp
	AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY OF WALHALLA CODE OF ORDINANCES, CHAPTER 25 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT INCENTIVES; AND OTHER MATTERS RELATED THERETO.




